
1 

 

Wake County Board of Commissioners 

Public Safety Committee 

October 7, 2019 

2:00 p.m. 

Wake County Justice Center Room 2800 

 

 

Commissioners Present:  

Matt Calabria, Chair 

Greg Ford 

 

Commissioner Absent: 

Jessica Holmes, Vice-Chair 

 

Other Commissioners Present: 

Vickie Adamson 

Susan Evans 

Sig Hutchinson 

James West 

 

 

Wake County Staff Present:  

David Ellis, County Manager; Chris Dillon, Assistant County Manager; Denise Foreman, 

Assistant County Manager; Ben Canada, Assistant to the County Manager; Derwick 

Paige, Chief Community Vitality Officer; Johnna Rogers, Chief Operating Officer; Kelli 

Braunbach, General Services Director; Ryan Davidson, Business Administration 

Director; Paarth Mehta, Senior Budget and Management Analyst; Michelle Burgess, 

Budget and Management Analyst; Jennifer Gibbs, Re-entry Coordinator; Denise Hogan, 

Clerk to the Board; Yvonne Gilyard, Deputy Clerk to the Board; and Michelle Cerett, 

Executive Assistant to the Board.  

 

Others Present: Judge Robert Rader; Chief District Court; Lorrin Freeman, Wake 

County District Attorney; Eric Johnson, Community Relations Manager, Alliance Health; 

Ann Oshel, Senior Vice President, Alliance Health; and Roosevelt Richards, Crisis 

Intervention Coordinator, Alliance Health. 

 

Meeting Called to Order: Commissioner Calabria called the meeting to order at 2:00 

p.m. and welcomed everyone to the meeting.  

 

Approval of the Minutes 

 

Commissioner Ford moved, seconded by Commissioner Calabria, to approve the 

minutes of the August 19, 2019 Public Safety Committee meeting.   

 



2 

 

 
 
Criminal Justice Programming in Wake County 
 

Commissioner Calabria shared the agenda for today’s meeting. 

 

 
 

Commissioner Calabria welcomed Judge Robert Rader, Chief District Court Judge, 10th 
Judicial District; and Ms. Lorrin Freeman, Wake County District Attorney, and said they 
will be presenting information on Criminal Justice programming in Wake County. 
 
 

 
 

Judge Rader shared the county’s role for court facilities. He said the Supreme Court is 

celebrating its 200th anniversary this week. He said the District Court and Court of 



3 

 

Appeals were developed in the 1960’s.  He said all positions within the court system are 

state funded. He said the only county role in the courts is providing the facilities, office 

space, and furniture. He said the video court saves the county money and time, and 

greatly reduces security risks in court facilities.  

 

 
 

He shared the current court operations in Wake County. He said the Magistrate 

courtrooms are operated 24 hours a day, 7 days a week.  

 

 
 
 

Commissioner Hutchinson asked what the criterion is for Superior Court and District 

Court. Judge Rader said the case is assigned based on the charges and/or the amount 

of the lawsuit. 

 



4 

 

Commissioner West asked how Magistrates are appointed. Judge Rader said the Clerk 

of Court recommends appointees to the Senior Superior Court Judge, who makes the 

appointment. 

 

Judge Rader shared the various types of District Court courtrooms. 

 

 
 

Commissioner West asked how involuntary commitments are affected by HIPAA laws.  

Judge Rader said the individual is assessed at a mental health facility to determine the 

level of care needed. Ms. Freeman said involuntary commitment hearings are 

confidential and sealed. 

 

Judge Rader shared the caseload filings and dispositions for FY 2017-18. 

 

 
 



5 

 

He shared a staff comparison between Wake County and Mecklenburg County. He said 

Wake County is the most understaffed court in the state.  

 

Commissioner Evans asked why Wake County courts are so understaffed. Judge Rader 

said court positions are politically created. He said while Wake County is understaffed, 

Mecklenburg is overstaffed. He said Mecklenburg County is the only county in the state 

that receives a large amount of financial support from county funds.   

 

Ms. Freeman said Drug Court is a good example of county funding for court programs. 

She said Drug Court funding was eliminated five years ago by the state. She said some 

counties eliminated the program and others converted to county funding.  

 

Judge Rader said Wake County Drug court is primarily grant funded. He said legislators 

have tried to get the drug court funding reinstated but have been unsuccessful. 

 

 
 

He shared the goals of the Court system. 



6 

 

 
 

He shared the various programs offered through the court system.  

 

 
 

 

He shared the pretrial best practices that have been implemented in Wake County. He 

said Wake County has the highest percentage in the state of citations versus arrests, 

which saves the county a considerable amount of money. He said counties are required 

by law to hold first appearances within 96 hours but, Wake County holds them Monday 

through Friday. He said Wake County is one of 40 counties in the state that offer pretrial 

release programs. 

 



7 

 

 
 

 

Judge Rader shared information on county funded pretrial release programs. He said 

the average jail population is 1,200 inmates per day. He said without the pretrial release 

program, the daily jail population would increase by nearly 800 inmates. He said 

defendants are only eligible for pretrial release if their crime is not violent and they don’t 

have a history of not showing up for court. 

 

 
 

He shared information on the pretrial monitoring that is done for pretrial release 

inmates. He said each inmate is monitored electronically and some are subjected to 



8 

 

continuous alcohol monitoring (CAM). He said the pretrial release conditions are 

determined by the person’s criminal history and current charges. 

 

 
 

He said the Free the People Program typically sees frequent offenders and those with a 

history of not showing up for court, etc. He said Free the People Court is held every 

Thursday. 

 

 
 



9 

 

 

Judge Rader shared ongoing pretrial reform efforts. 

 

 
 

Ms. Freeman shared information on the deferred prosecution programs. She said 

pretrial release has become increasingly popular. She said it reduces court cost and 

limits the impacts on the individual’s life, job, and family. She said Wake County has 

more diversion prosecution programs than any other county in the state.  

 

 
 



10 

 

She shared the available diversion programs offered by the court system. 

 

 
 

She shared details on the Young Adult Criminal Deferral Program. She said this 

program is restricted to first time offenders. She said Raise the Age will affect this 

program. She said currently, offenders age 16 and over are referred to adult court, but 

the Raise the Age initiative will increase it to the age of 18. She said North Carolina is 

one of the last of two states to implement the Raise the Age initiative. 

  

 
 



11 

 

She shared details on the Teen Court program. She said this program keeps youth out 

of the court system, but still teaches them there are consequences for their actions. 

 

 
 

She shared details on the Pre-Filing Diversion Program. She said Alliance Health is a 

great partner with the county for mental health services.  She said school resource 

officers often make referrals for students to the Pre-Filing Diversion program.  

 

Commissioner Adamson asked what consequences a student faces if the program is 

not completed. Ms. Freeman said the case is held for six to nine months and if the 

program is completed, the case is not filed. If the program is not completed, the court 

system pursues the criminal charges. 

 

Commissioner Calabria asked if Pre-Filing Diversion is always used for students. Ms. 

Freeman said the school resource officers use various tactics based on the crime and 

the student’s situation. 

 

 



12 

 

Ms. Freeman shared details on the First Offenders program. She said the Probation 

Department has operated the First Offenders Program for many years. She said it is 

similar to the Pre-Filing Diversion Program. 

 

 
 

She shared details on the Misdemeanor Diversion program. 

 

 
 

 



13 

 

She shared details on the Felony Diversion Program. 

 

 
 

Ms. Freeman shared details on the Domestic Violence Diversion Program. She said 

offenders are only allowed into this program if the victim agrees and the defendant 

meets the strict criterion. She said history has shown that offenders are unlikely to re-

offend if they have completed this program.   

 

 
 



14 

 

She shared details on the Mediation Program. (Two slides) 

 

 
 

 

 
 

Commissioner Adamson asked the what percentage of cases are solved through 

mediation. Ms. Freeman said the program has a 90 percent success rate. 

 

  



15 

 

Ms. Freeman shared details on the Worthless Check Program. She said the state 

eliminated funding for this program, but the county has continued to fund it. She said 

this year alone $80,000 has been successfully collected through the program. 

 

 
 

Ms. Freeman shared information on the Drug and Alcohol Diversion Program. She said 

this program has been in place for many years but has been expanded as needed.  

 

 
 



16 

 

She shared how the 90-96 program works. She said the program lasts six to twelve 

months. 

 

 
 

She shared the success rates of the 90-96 program. 

 

 
 

 

 



17 

 

She shared an example of the case requirements for the 90-96 program. 

 

 
 

 

Ms. Freeman shared examples of cases that are not eligible for the diversion program. 

 

 
 

She shared information on the Mental Health Diversion Program. She said she has 

spent a lot of time on this program and thanked the commissioners for their support. 



18 

 

She said defendants in the program are monitored closely to ensure they are compliant 

with the recommended treatment and medication. She said defendants do not have to 

be first offenders to qualify for the Mental Health Diversion Program.  

 

 
 

Commissioner West commented on the lack of family support for repeat offenders. He 

said the mental health system is difficult to maneuver for some. He asked if Mental 

Health Court closes the gap for those individuals. Ms. Freeman confirmed that it does 

close the gaps and said she is very supportive of Mental Health Court.  

 

Ms. Freeman shared two stories of defendants who completed the Mental Health 

Diversion Program.  She said supportive housing has a huge impact on Mental Health 

diversion. She said a software program is being developed that will compile medical, 

criminal, and homeless information from all agencies on individuals treated by the 

Mental Health Diversion Program. 

 



19 

 

 
 

 

Ms. Freeman shared information on the Recovery Court Diversion Program. 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 



20 

 

She shared the statistics on the recovery court for FY2019.  

 

 
 

 

Ms. Freeman shared examples of re-entry efforts. She said expunction clinics are held 

annually to help offenders get charges expunged. She said multiple agencies are 

involved in this effort.   

 

 
 



21 

 

 

She said the biggest reason for license suspension is failure to appear charges. 

 

 
 

 

She shared future considerations for the committee.  She said that she appreciates the 

support of the county. She said court staff has a fantastic relationship with county staff.  

 

 
 



22 

 

Commissioner Ford asked what needs to be done to keep the court system flowing 

steadily. Ms. Freeman said additional positions would be helpful, but they have not 

requested them.  

 

Commissioner Ford commented on the court system facilities master plan. He asked if 

space is an issue for the courts. Ms. Freeman said space is not an issue, but there is a 

shortage of staff to operate some programs. She said the Justice Center building was 

designed to accommodate 50 years of growth. 

 

Commissioner Ford said that Mecklenburg County spends $12 million more annually on 

court related staffing than Wake County does.  

 

Commissioner Calabria said the State Bar Association has commented on the court 

staffing costs in Mecklenburg County. 

 

Ms. Freeman said increasing the number of wrap around services, case managers, and 

assessment staff would be very helpful. Judge Rader agreed with Ms. Freeman on the 

needs and said more supportive housing is also needed.  

 

Commissioner Adamson said some counties hold weekend court and asked if it has 

been considered for Wake County. Judge Rader said night court was done as a pilot for 

one year and it was decided it was not beneficial. 

 

Commissioner Adamson asked how Medicaid transformation will affect services that 

Alliance Health currently provides. 

 

Ms. Jennifer Gibbs, Re-entry Coordinator, said there are many unanswered questions, 

but Alliance is preparing as best they can. 

 

Commissioner Evans said that Wake County is a leader to other counties in the 

Diversion Program efforts. She agreed with Commissioner Ford that she would like to 

receive a list of increased staffing needs from the court system. 

 

David Ellis, County Manager, said it would be beneficial to share that information with 

the Wake Delegation. 

 

Ms. Johnna Rogers, Chief Operating Officer, commented on staffing in Mecklenburg 

County versus Wake County. 

 

Commissioner Hutchinson asked about cash bonds and if they are still used in Wake 

County. Ms. Freeman said cash bonds are still used, but diversion courts are used to 

decrease the need for them.   

 



23 

 

Commissioner Calabria shared information on the pretrial release programs and asked 

if Ms. Freeman and her staff are comfortable with the inmates that are being released.  

 

Ms. Freeman said there is a strict criterion for the pretrial release programs, and she is 

comfortable with it. 

 

Commissioner Hutchinson thanked Ms. Freeman and Judge Rader for their 

presentation and said it was very beneficial. He shared information on the Wake 

Directors Group, which was formed in 2015. He said it is very beneficial to have all 

players at the table to discuss arising issues. 

 

Ms. Freeman asked the commissioners to provide feedback on the court system if they 

receive it from the community. 

 

Commissioner Adamson shared information on an upcoming conference and said 

diversion programs will be discussed. She asked if there are requests from the court 

system for new or expanded diversion courts. 

 

Ms. Freeman said it would be helpful to have a program to assist with the defendants 

cost of diversion court. She said cost is often a barrier to defendants being able to enter 

a diversion program. 

 

Commissioner Calabria asked for feedback on the Family Justice Center model and 

said it is considered a national best practice model.  

 

Ms. Freeman said the model has some promises, but she needs more information to 

make an accurate assessment. She said the programs at Interact are a huge resource 

for the community. She asked the commissioners to continue to support the sexual 

assault programs and the Safe Child Program. 

 

Commissioner Calabria asked about the use of body cameras and asked for feedback 

from the court perspective. 

 

Judge Rader said he has heard many cases involving the use of dash cams but hasn’t 

had many involving body cams.  He said the administrative part of body camera use is 

an issue more than the cost of the cameras. 

 

Ms. Freeman said the court system struggles with the use of body cameras. She said 

trying cases with body camera video are very time consuming and they slow down the 

process tremendously.  

 

Commissioner Calabria shared information he has received on gun violence in Wake 

County. He asked for feedback on gun violence in Wake County. 

 



24 

 

Ms. Freeman said Wake County has a low gun violence rate compared to other 

counties. She said she would need more feedback from law enforcement before she 

could provide actual statistics. 

 

Commissioner Hutchinson asked for recommendations to improve the Detention Center 

and the work of the Sheriff’s department.   

 

Ms. Freeman said adding a drug & alcohol program within the facility would provide a 

smoother transition back to society. She said increased case management services 

would also be helpful.  

 

Commissioner Adamson said there’s a need for childcare while defendants are in court. 

Judge Rader said it has been an issue for years, but there is no easy solution. He said 

the county used to provide space at no cost for a childcare program, but liability and 

staffing became an issue. He said the childcare program was very costly and the State 

Bar decided it was not cost efficient. 

 

Commissioner Ford asked about the revenue portion of the criminal justice budget and 

asked for clarification of the revenue sources. Ms. Freeman said lab fees and facility 

fees are included in that budget item, but she is unsure what other revenues are in that 

account. 

 

Commissioner Ford said he has reviewed the criminal justice system budget and they 

have a net revenue of $2.3 billion annually. He asked for a detailed list of all direct and 

indirect court related programs and services. He said it would be very helpful to have a 

comprehensive list along with the budget information. He said revenue generated by 

court related programs should be reinvested in those programs. 

 

There being no further business, Commissioner Calabria adjourned the meeting at 4:15 

p.m. 

 

 

Respectfully submitted,  

 

______________________________ 

Michelle L. Cerett, Executive Assistant 

Wake County Board of Commissioners 


